STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dillon County

Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Jan 04 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TYREEK DASHAWN HAYES,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001303

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge err by allowing the state to present hearsay testimony from a police officer that the complaining witness identified Appellant as her assailant where the state failed to satisfy the requirements of the excited utterance exception, which it invoked in order to admit the improper testimony, and credibility of the complaining witness was essential to proving the state's case?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 8, 2016, a Dillon County grand jury indicted Appellant for two counts of attempted murder (2016-GS-17-0875; -0879), kidnapping (2016-GS-17-877), possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2016-GS-17-0878), and criminal sexual conduct in the first degree (2016-GS-17-0876). R. 503-504; R. 506-507; R. 509-510; R. 512-513. The state, represented by Megan B. Burchstead and Joel Kozak from the Attorney General's Office, called the case to trial on July 23-26, 2019, before the Honorable Roger E. Henderson and a jury. R. 1. Matthew Swilley represented Appellant. R. 1.

At the conclusion of the presentation of evidence and argument, the judge instructed the jury on the law. However, his charge was confusing, at best. At one point, the judge instructed the jurors that “[a]n attempt includes a specific intent to do a particular criminal act along with an act falling short of the act intended.” R. 466, ll. 6-8. He told the jurors that “[i]ntent means intending the result which actually occurs.” R. 466, ll. 11-12. Then, when instructing on attempted murder, he informed the jurors that “[a] specific intent to kill [was] not an element of attempted murder.” R. 468, ll. 18-19. Instead, all that was required was for the state to prove “a general intent to commit serious bodily injury.” R. 468, ll. 18-20. Then, he reminded the jurors that “[i]ntent means intending the result which actually occurs.” R. 468, ll. 20-22. Finally, he permitted the jurors to infer intent for purposes of attempted murder. R. 468, l. 22 – R. 469, l. 7.¹

During deliberations, the jury asked numerous questions. R. 478, l. 18 – R. 482, l. 19. The final question posed by the jury was to ask what would happen if they were unable to agree on one of the charges, and the judge instructed them pursuant to Allen v. United States, 164 U.S.

¹ Trial counsel did not object to the instruction. R. 478, ll. 11-13. But see State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 55-56, 810 S.E.2d 18, 22 (2017) (holding that attempted murder requires a specific intent to kill).

492 (1896). R. 481, l. 23 – R. 490, l. 25. Shortly thereafter, the jury returned with its verdicts, finding Appellant not guilty of criminal sexual conduct in the first degree, but guilty of kidnapping, two counts of attempted murder, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 492, ll. 2-17. Judge Henderson sentenced Appellant to thirty years for each county of attempted murder, to fifteen years for kidnapping, and to five years for the weapon. R. 496, l. 19 – R. 497, l. 12; R. 505; R. 508; R. 511; R. 514. He ordered all sentences to be served consecutively for a total of eighty years imprisonment. R. 496, l. 19 – R. 497, l. 12; R. 505; R. 508; R. 511; R. 514.

On August 2, 2019, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In August or September 2016, Appellant and Candace Simpson began a romantic relationship online. R. 19, ll. 17-19; R. 21, l. 25 – R. 22, l. 17; R. 388, ll. 20-21; R. 389, ll. 3-21; R. 391, l. 22 – R. 392, l. 9. On September 30, 2016, Simpson informed Appellant that she was going to a nightclub called Strikers. R. 392, ll. 15-22. Appellant went to the nightclub as well, and met up with Simpson. R. 393, ll. 21-24. When Strikers closed, he went to T. Lee's, an after-hours bar. R. 394, ll. 6-8. While there, he ran into Simpson again. R. 26, ll. 7-9; R. 28, ll. 2-5; R. 394, ll. 21-23. After spending some time together at the bar, Appellant and Simpson rode with Simpson's friend, Tonya Moore, to Simpson's home. R. 28, l. 7 – R. 29, l. 2; R. 394, l. 25 – R. 395, l. 3. Moore lived directly across from Simpson. R. 29, ll. 12-14; R. 395, ll. 16-21. Appellant asked Simpson if he could join her in her apartment, and Simpson readily agreed. R. 30, ll. 7-10; R. 395, ll. 18-20.

In the apartment, Appellant and Simpson talked until Simpson decided she wanted to take a shower. R. 31, ll. 1-4; R. 395, l. 25 – R. 396, l. 10. When Simpson got out of the shower, she returned to Appellant, sitting on his lap. R. 396, ll. 11-18. When Appellant kissed Simpson, she responded by kissing him back in a rough way and placing her arm around him. R. 396, l. 21 – R. 397, l. 5. Appellant and Simpson then went to the bedroom. R. 397, ll. 9-10. The two undressed, and Simpson asked Appellant if he had condom. R. 397, ll. 11-18. When Appellant indicated he did not, Simpson provided him with one from her closet. R. 397, ll. 18-21. After Appellant put on the condom, the two had intercourse. R. 397, ll. 21-25.

After the two had sex, a man entered the bedroom. R. 398, ll. 22-24. The man confronted Simpson about Appellant's presence in the bedroom. R. 399, ll. 21-24. Then, the man turned violent and threatened Appellant. R. 400, ll. 1-3. The man briefly left the bedroom.

R. 400, l. 3. Simpson followed the man, calling him “babe.” R. 400, ll. 5-8. While Appellant was putting on his clothes so he could leave, he heard the man and Simpson arguing in the kitchen. R. 401, ll. 7-19. As he was walking to the door, he heard Simpson “gasping” and asking for his help. R. 401, ll. 21-24. He knew he could not leave her there with the violent and angry man. R. 401, l. 24 – R. 402, l. 1. Appellant kicked the man off of Simpson. R. 402, ll. 1-2. Just as Appellant was going to charge the man, he saw the man had a knife. R. 402, ll. 3-4. Appellant then jumped behind Simpson. R. 402, l. 5.

Wildly, the man swung the knife, mostly cutting Simpson, but injuring Appellant as well. R. 402, ll. 7-13. Suddenly, there was a knock at the door, and Simpson’s sister, Ann Covington, and two children entered the small apartment. R. 402, ll. 20-25. When Covington demanded answers from the man about his conduct, the man grew angry with her. R. 403, ll. 1-9. Nevertheless, Covington pushed the man. R. 403, ll. 10-15. The man and Covington began fighting. R. 403, l. 23 – R. 404, l. 3. The man, still armed with the knife, cut Covington as well. R. 404, ll. 3-4. Eventually, Covington and the two children ran out the front door, which allowed Appellant to run out of the back patio door. R. 404, ll. 4-7.

Simpson claimed her evening with Appellant progressed differently, however. According to Simpson, when she got out of the shower, she agreed to sit beside Appellant on the sectional. R. 31, ll. 5-9. When Appellant “tried to start kissing” her, she refused. R. 31, ll. 9-11. She claimed she told him to go. R. 31, ll. 10-14. According to Simpson, Appellant refused to leave and pulled her into her bedroom. R. 31, l. 23 – R. 32, l. 3. She further claimed that she “tried to scream and hit the wall for [her] next door neighbor but he choked [her] instantly.” R. 32, ll. 3-4. Simpson asserted that she “just asked him to stop ... choking [her],” but she thought “it was obvious that he just wanted what he wanted.” R. 33, ll. 2-3. Simpson asked Appellant to

use a condom, and Appellant agreed. R. 33, ll. 6-10. Other than Appellant penetrating her vagina with his penis, Simpson did not “remember too much” after that. R. 34, ll. 8-15. She only remembered waking up later in the morning. R. 34, ll. 14-15.

When she awoke, Appellant wanted to have sex again, but she did not. R. 35, ll. 11-14. She “wasn’t in the mood for anything.” R. 35, ll. 21-25. Appellant asked her for oral sex and she complied. R. 35, ll. 15-16. Oddly, Simpson claimed that the oral sex stopped because Appellant choked her again. R. 36, ll. 9-15. According to Simpson, Appellant was “worried about [her] telling.” R. 36, ll. 14-17. Simpson passed out again, and when she woke her legs were so weak she could barely walk. R. 36, ll. 22-24. She told Appellant she needed to use the bathroom, and he assisted her into the bathroom. R. 36, l. 25 – R. 37, l. 4. Shortly after the two returned to her bed, Simpson’s sister, Ann Covington, walked in. R. 37, ll. 18-22; R. 38, ll. 11-13. Covington believed she had walked in on a sexual encounter and excused herself from the bedroom as a result. R. 123, ll. 17-22. Simpson ran out of the room to see who had entered. R. 37, ll. 21-22. When she saw it was her sister, she “fell to [her] knees and [she] told her he raped [her].” R. 37, ll. 22-23. Covington contradicted Simpson on this key point. According to Covington, Simpson said, “he’s tried to kill me.” R. 111, ll. 6-7; R. 124, ll. 5-8. Hearing this, Appellant denied Simpson’s accusation. R. 111, ll. 7-8.

Covington told Appellant to leave. R. 38, ll. 14-16. Simpson recalled Covington and Appellant “fussing.” R. 38, l. 16. Simpson believed Appellant was punching Covington. R. 38, ll. 16-17. Simpson jumped on Appellant, which allowed Covington to run to a room with the children with whom she had arrived. R. 38, ll. 18-19; R. 40, ll. 4-6. Covington contradicted Simpson on this point as well. Covington indicated that she and the children left the apartment at this time; she denied locking herself into a room as Simpson insisted. R. 114, ll. 7-18; R. 125, ll.

13-15. When Simpson tried to run to the front door, Appellant tried to cut her neck, but she blocked him with her hands. R. 38, ll. 20-21. Simpson claimed Appellant dragged her to the kitchen, where he stabbed her. R. 38, ll. 20-22. According to Simpson, while Appellant was stabbing her, she heard the front door open. R. 41, ll. 7-11. When Appellant went to the front door in response to the sound, Simpson ran out the back door, which was open. R. 41, ll. 12-13. Simpson ran to her neighbor's house. R. 42, ll. 6-10.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge erred by allowing the state to present hearsay testimony from a police officer that the complaining witness identified Appellant as her assailant where the state failed to satisfy the requirements of the excited utterance exception, which it invoked in order to admit the improper testimony, and credibility of the complaining witness was essential to proving the state's case.

Standard of review

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.” State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847–48 (2006). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id. at 429–30, 632 S.E.2d at 848.

Relevant facts

Lorie Tyler was a patrol officer with the Dillon Police Department when she responded to a 911 call involving Simpson and Covington. R. 152, l. 21 – R. 153, l. 20. Tyler explained that when she arrived, she spoke to Simpson and Covington. R. 154, ll. 12-13. The solicitor asked if Simpson said “who had done this to her” in reference to injuries that Tyler described observing on Simpson. R. 154, l. 25. When Tyler responded that Simpson had, defense counsel objected to hearsay. R. 155, ll. 1-2. The solicitor responded that the testimony fit within the “[e]xcited utterance” exception. R. 155, ll. 3-5. The judge agreed, noting it was “the victim herself.” R. 155, l. 6. Thus, the judge overruled the objection. R. 155, l. 7. Tyler then told the jurors that Simpson claimed “Reedy All Boss” was the name her assailant used on Facebook. R. 155, ll. 8-9. Later, Tyler repeated that Simpson alleged “Reedy All Boss” assaulted her. R. 175, l. 23- R.

176, l. 1. Tyler informed the jurors that based upon Simpson's information, she searched Facebook for the name and found Appellant's page. R. 176, ll. 1-2.

Discussion

"Hearsay is not admissible." Rule 802, SCRE. "'Hearsay' is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Rule 801(c), SCRE. However, the Rules of Evidence provide multiple exceptions to the exclusion of hearsay. One of those exceptions allows for the admissibility of excited utterances. An excited utterance is a "statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition" and may be admitted at trial as an exception to the hearsay rule. Rule 803(2), SCRE. "The rationale behind the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule is that the startling event suspends the declarant's process of reflective thought and, consequently, reduces the likelihood of fabrication." State v. Davis, 371 S.C. 170, 178, 638 S.E.2d 57, 62 (2006) (citing State v. Dennis, 337 S.C. 275, 284, 523 S.E.2d 173, 177 (1999)).

The Supreme Court has identified three elements a trial court must consider when determining whether a statement has the spontaneous quality necessary for admission as an excited utterance: "(1) the statement must relate to a startling event or condition; (2) the statement must have been made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement; and (3) the stress of excitement must be caused by the startling event or condition." State v. Washington, 379 S.C. 120, 124, 665 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2008)). "[S]tatements which are not based on firsthand information, such as where the declarant was not an actual witness to the event, are not admissible under the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule." State v. Davis, 371

S.C. 170, 179, 638 S.E.2d 57, 62 (2006) (citing State v. Hill, 331 S.C. 94, 99, 501 S.E.2d 122, 125 (1998)).

In State v. Burroughs, 328 S.C. 489, 496, 492 S.E.2d 408, 411 (Ct. App. 1997), “the trial court allowed the police officer who first took the victim’s statement and a nurse who examined the victim in the emergency room to testify about the victim’s statements to them describing the assault.” This Court held that “the testimony was hearsay and amounted to impermissible bolstering of the victim’s trial testimony.” Id. This Court also noted that the statements did not amount to an excited utterance because there was “a great deal of time for reflection” before the victim made the statements to the police officer and nurse. Id. at 500, 492 S.E.2d at 413. In State v. Whisonant, 335 S.C. 148, 515 S.E.2d 768 (Ct. App. 1999), this Court held the admission of the victim’s statements to her stepmother regarding details of the assault under the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule was reversible error where a considerable time period had passed between the assault and the statement giving the victim time to reflect. This Court further held the stepmother’s testimony was cumulative because it mirrored that of the victim and improperly bolstered the victim’s story in the minds of the jury. Id. at 156, 515, S.E.2d at 772.

In State v. Davis, 371 S.C. 170, 178-81, 638 S.E.2d 57, 61-63 (2006), the Supreme Court found that the trial court committed reversible error in admitting the co-defendant’s statements, as an excited utterance, that his brother had shot the victim because the victim had taken a swing at his brother. In addition to a lack of evidence that the co-defendant was under the stress or excitement of the shooting when he made the statement, the Davis Court found that the record did not support the conclusion that Hill witnessed the shooting. 371 S.C. at 180, 638 S.E.2d at 63. Thus, the Court ruled: “Because there is no evidence Hill actually saw Paul get shot, Hill’s statement is not admissible under the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule.” Id.

The judge erred in permitting the solicitor to elicit hearsay testimony from the police officer regarding the identity of the alleged perpetrator. There was simply no evidence that Simpson was under the stress or excitement of a startling event. Importantly, the state asked no questions of Tyler regarding her perceptions of Simpson's mental state, which would have allowed the judge to determine if the statement from Simpson fit within the hearsay exception. Further, the state asked no questions of Simpson when she testified to allow a determination of whether she was under the influence of a startling event when she spoke to Tyler. Instead, the judge simply allowed the state to elicit the hearsay testimony – from a police officer – without any evidence in the record to support an exception to the rule against hearsay.

The entirety of the state's case depended upon the jury believing Simpson. While there was no question that Simpson was injured, the identity of the person who injured Simpson was highly disputed. In light of Simpson giving inconsistent statements regarding specific details, her inability to recall much of what transpired during the night in question, and her testimony conflicting with Covington's on significant aspects, the jury determined Simpson's credibility was questionable, at best, as shown by its verdict of not guilty on the criminal sexual conduct charge, which rested entirely upon Simpson's credibility. Allowing a police officer to inform the jury that Simpson allegedly blamed Appellant for her injuries bolstered Simpson's credibility as it lent the prestige of law enforcement to the accusation. Thus, the improper hearsay testimony was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt as it helped the state buttress its chief witness's allegations.

CONCLUSION

Appellant respectfully requests this Court reverse his convictions and remand for a new trial based upon the trial judge's erroneous ruling, which permitted the introduction of improper and prejudicial hearsay testimony.