STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Dec 21 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Dillon County
Honorable Roger E. Henderson, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2019-001303

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Tyreek Dashawn Hayes,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court did not err in admitting testimony of a police officer that the victim identified Appellant by his Facebook name because it is not hearsay. Further, the trial court did not err in finding it was an excited utterance. Finally, any possible error is harmless in light of the other evidence in the record.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Dillon County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on charges of criminal sexual conduct in the first degree, two counts of attempted murder, kidnapping, and possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime. He proceeded to trial before the Honorable Roger E. Henderson and a jury. The jury acquitted him of criminal sexual conduct, but found him guilty of all other charges. Judge Henderson sentenced him to thirty years for each count of attempted murder, fifteen for kidnapping and five for possession of a weapon. The sentences ran consecutively for a total of eighty years in prison.¹ On August 2, 2019, Appellant served his Notice of Appeal and subsequently served his Initial Brief of Appellant on July 27, 2020.

¹ Appellant's Statement of the Case includes unnecessary commentary regarding the jury charges given by the trial court which are entirely unrelated to the subject and issue on appeal. The State disagrees with the inclusion, especially in the procedural Statement of the Case, but the State's motion to strike was denied. It is also important to note, that notwithstanding counsel's commentary and characterizations, Appellant's trial court did not object to the jury instructions given, and specifically indicated his desire for the Allen charge referenced in Appellant's Statement of the Case. (T.595; 600; 603-604; R.478; 483; 486-487).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Candace Simpson met someone named Reedy Boss, or Reedy All Boss, on Facebook and began communicating with him. (T.106-107; R.21-22). Reedy Boss was later identified as Appellant. On the evening of September 30 and into the morning of October 1, 2016, Simpson planned to head to a local club called Strikers with some friends and left her kids at her mom's house where her sister, Ann Covington also lived. (T.106; 108-109; R.21; 23-24). After going to Strikers, Simpson and a friend went to T Lees, another club. (T.111-112; R.26-27). While at T Lees, Simpson saw Appellant. (T.113; R.28).

Appellant asked for a ride home from T Lees because he lived in the apartment complex next to the one Simpson lived in. (T. 113; R.28). When they all got out of the car, Appellant asked about coming into Simpson's apartment. (T.115; R.30). Simpson went to wash off the smoke and change clothes. When she came back out, she originally sat in a recliner while Appellant sat on her sectional. He asked her to come over by him, and when she did, he started trying to kiss her. Simpson told Appellant to leave, but he would not. (T.116; R.31).

Instead, Appellant pulled Simpson into her bedroom. She tried to scream and bang on the wall to get the attention of her neighbor, but Appellant choked her immediately. He continued to drag her into the bedroom by the waist such that her feet were not touching the ground. (T.117; R.32). She begged him to stop, but he refused. She begged him to wear a condom at least, they ended up on the floor getting a condom. Appellant then raped Simpson. (T.118-119; R.33-34). Simpson passed out after Appellant began penetrating her with his penis. (T.119; R.34).

When she woke up, it was daylight and Appellant was just standing there watching her. (T.119-120; R.34-35). Appellant indicated he wanted to have sex again, but Simpson did not want sex. He asked her to do oral sex, and she agreed believing she would be choked if she did not

perform oral sex. (T.120; R.35). Ultimately, Appellant choked Simpson again. She begged him to stop, telling him she had children. Appellant said Simpson would tell and she kept begging for her life. She woke up again after the choking, and could barely walk. (T.120; R.35).

Someone came over and Simpson saw that it was her sister. Simpson told Covington that Appellant raped her. Covington told him to leave, but instead he and Covington started “fussing” and Simpson believed Appellant was punching Covington, at the time not knowing he had a knife. (T.123-124; R.38-39). Simpson jumped on Appellant and Covington was able to get free. Simpson tried to run, but Appellant grabbed her. He then tried to cut her neck, but she was able to get her hands up. He drug her into the kitchen and stabbed her. (T.123-125; R.38-40). Ultimately, Appellant went to the front door because he heard it open, and Simpson was able to escape out the sliding door in the back. (T.126; R.41). Simpson had to bust through the screen to get out and away from Appellant. She ran to her neighbor’s house without clothes on and with multiple stab wounds. (T.127; R.42).

Someone called 911 and an ambulance arrived to take Simpson to the hospital. (T.128; R.43). After being treated and receiving stiches and staples, she was shown a photo lineup. She identified Appellant in the lineup. (T.129; 303; State’s Exhibits 84 & 86; R.44; 45; 498; 500). At trial, Simpson again identified Appellant as the person who raped her, choked her, wounded her and her sister with a knife, and held her against her will. (T.137-138; R.52-53).

Covington testified that when she brought Simpson’s son back she walked in on what she thought was Simpson and someone having sex. After she backed out of the bedroom, she explained that Simpson came out and said the person was trying to kill her. Covington was not going to allow the person to go back in the room where Simpson was located, but he got on top of Covington. Covington thought he was hitting her, but instead he was stabbing her. (T.197-198;

R.112-113). She managed to escape when Simpson jumped on Appellant's back. Covington went next door and asked them to call 911. (T.199-200; R.114-115). She stated Simpson finally came around the building and to the neighbor's apartment. Simpson had no clothes on, and both Simpson and Covington were bleeding from the knife wounds inflicted by Appellant. (T.203; R.118).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001); State v. Butler, 353 S.C. 383, 388, 577 S.E.2d 498, 500 (Ct. App. 2003). “The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.

“A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.” State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). “Prejudice occurs when there is reasonable probability the wrongly admitted evidence influenced the jury's verdict.” State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011).

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court did not err in admitting testimony of a police officer that the victim identified Appellant by his Facebook name because it is not hearsay. Further, the trial court did not err in finding it was an excited utterance. Finally, any possible error is harmless in light of the other evidence in the record.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in admitting the testimony of Investigator Tyler who stated that Simpson identified her assailant by his Facebook moniker—Reedy All Boss. Appellant maintains this was inadmissible hearsay and the trial court erred in admitting it under the excited utterance exception. The testimony was not hearsay and so no exception was necessary. Further, if an exception was required, there was sufficient evidence to support the trial court's determination it was an excited utterance. Finally, even if it could possibly be admitted in error, any error was entirely harmless as the testimony was cumulative to additional testimony in the record and court not have conceivably affected the outcome of the trial.

At trial, the State asked Investigator Tyler, one of the first officers on the scene after the 911 call, if Simpson identified her assailant. Appellant objected as hearsay, and the State responded it was an excited utterance. The trial court ruled it was an excited utterance and was the victim making the identification. (T.243-244; R.154-155).² Thereafter, Investigator Tyler indicated Simpson told him her assailant was someone she knew as "Reedy All Boss," someone she knew from Facebook. (T.244; R.155).

² Appellant argument raised on appeal is not preserved for review. At trial, Appellant objected to hearsay. The State offered the excited utterance exception for admission and the trial court agreed. Appellant never maintained that the State failed to present sufficient evidence to support its claim of an excited utterance, nor did he contend the trial court needed to make more specific findings. As a result, the bulk of Appellant's argument regarding the sufficiency of the ruling and the sufficiency of the State's supporting evidence of an excited utterance was never raised to or ruled upon by the trial court. See State v. Stahlnecker, 386 S.C. 609, 617, 690 S.E.2d 565, 570 (2010) ("For an issue to be properly preserved it has to be raised to and ruled on by the trial court."); State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (holding a defendant may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal).

“ ‘Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801(c), SCRE.

However, the Rule continues to define several categories of statements which are not hearsay:

(d) Statements Which Are Not Hearsay. A statement is not hearsay if--

(1) *Prior Statement by Witness.* The declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement, and the statement is . . . (C) one of identification of a person made after perceiving the person, . . .

Rule 801(d)(1)(C), SCRE.

While South Carolina courts have not had many occasions to address Rule 801(d)(1)(C), the Rule is identical to the federal rule and many federal courts have addressed application of Rule 801(d)(1)(C), FRE. They routinely admit testimony, whether by the witness themselves or a third party such as a police officer, of a prior out-of-court identification. See e.g., United States v. Owens, 484 U.S. 554, 564 (1988) (Rule 801(d)(1)(C) exception applicable to evidence of witness’s prior identification of defendant, even though by the time of trial, witness was unable to remember identification); United States v. Paredes-Rodriguez, 160 F.3d 49, 58 (1st Cir. 1998) (rejecting a claim of hearsay and impermissible bolstering because the out-of-court identification was properly admitted under Rule 801(d)(1)(C), FRE); United States v. Brink, 39 F.3d 419, 426 (3d Cir.1994) (admitting testimony by FBI agent and not the declarant regarding the declarants stated identification of the defendant); United States v. O’Malley, 796 F.2d 891, 898–99 (7th Cir.1986) (allowing FBI agent to testify regarding witness’s prior identification of defendant after witness recanted at trial).

The testimony objected to in this case was not hearsay. The declarant, Simpson, clearly testified at trial and was subject to cross-examination. Her statement relayed by Investigator Tyler

was one of identification of Appellant—at least by the name she knew—obviously made after perceiving Appellant as her assailant. As a result, the testimony was not hearsay and no exception was necessary.

Even if an exception was necessary, it was properly admitted as an excited utterance. An excited utterance is defined as: “A statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition.” Rule 803(2), SCRE.

Three elements must be met for a statement to be an excited utterance: (1) the statement must relate to a startling event or condition; (2) the statement must have been made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement; and (3) the stress of excitement must be caused by the startling event or condition.

State v. Stahlnecker, 386 S.C. 609, 623, 690 S.E.2d 565, 573 (2010). The statement in this case, when examined in light of the circumstances described by Investigator Tyler and the victims, certainly qualified as an excited utterance.

First, the startling event would be the rape and attack by Appellant. Second, the statement—the identification of “Reedy All Boss” as Simpson’s rapist and attacker—clearly related to the startling event. Next, the statement was made while under the stress of the event. Investigator Tyler testified she arrived right after the 911 call. People were gathered and hollering that the victims were in Apartment P3. Investigator Tyler went to P3 and found Simpson and Covington. When she arrived, Simpson was wrapped in a bedsheet and people were covering her wounds with towels. Investigator Tyler described Simpson: “She was bloody. Her face was bloody and swollen. Her eyes were, like, the whites of her eyes were red. She had blood dripping everywhere.” (T.243; R.154). The circumstances described certainly indicate the statement was made while the declarant was still under the stress of excitement which would have been caused

by the startling event or condition. Accordingly, the totality of the circumstances support the finding by the trial court that if the statement was hearsay—which it is not—it would still be admissible as an excited utterance.

Finally, even if there could be any conceivable error with the admission of the statement, it would be entirely harmless in light of the extensive cumulative evidence in the record. “The admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.” State v. Johnson, 298 S.C. 496, 499, 381 S.E.2d 732, 733 (1989); see also, State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993) (any error in admission of evidence cumulative to other un-objected to evidence is harmless); State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 247 S.E.2d 443 (1978) (stating that admission of improper evidence in harmless when it is cumulative to other, unobjected-to testimony). The jury knew Simpson identified “Reedy All Boss” as her assailant. She testified that was the name of the person from Facebook. She identified his Facebook page which was presented to the jury and would have allowed the jury the ability to determine for themselves whether “Reedy All Boss” was in fact Appellant. (T.136-137; R.51-52). Simpson also picked Appellant out of a photo lineup while in the hospital and identified him at trial. Covington also identified Appellant as her attacker and indicated she knew him as “Reedy All Boss.” (T.206; R.121). In addition, Covington picked Appellant out of a photo lineup. (T.342; State’s Exhibit 85; R.253; 499).

Additionally the admission of the statement could not have had any impact on the verdict beyond a reasonable doubt.

Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case. No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.

State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). “Generally, appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. Error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where it did not contribute to the verdict obtained.” State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 212, 631 S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006); see also, State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 467 S.E.2d 272 (Ct. App. 1996) (stating that error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it does not contribute to the verdict). The single mention of the prior identification by Simpson, especially in light of the fact Appellant never contested the testimony that he was at the apartment and the other identifications made by both Simpson and Covington, could not have impacted the jury’s verdict. See State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 499, 629 S.E.2d 363, 366 (2006) (finding the improper admission of hearsay evidence to be harmless where the hearsay evidence was impeached by the jury’s exposure to the fact the evidence was not based on any first-hand knowledge).

Accordingly, the trial court did not err in admitting the testimony by Investigator Tyler and, even if admitted in error, it was entirely harmless.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.